# Large-Scale Solar PV Investment Planning Studies

by

Wajid Muneer

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Applied Science in Electrical & Computer Engineering

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2011

©Wajid Muneer 2011

# **Author's Declaration**

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

### Abstract

In the pursuit of a cleaner and sustainable environment, solar photovoltaic (PV) power has been established as the fastest growing alternative energy source in the world. This extremely fast growth is brought about, mainly, by government policies and support mechanisms world-wide. Solar PV technology that was once limited to specialized applications and considered very expensive, with low efficiency, is becoming more efficient and affordable. Solar PV promises to be a major contributor of the future global energy mix due to its minimal running costs, zero emissions and steadily declining module and inverter costs.

With the expanding practice of managing decentralized power systems around the world, the role of private investors is increasing. Thus, the perspective of all stakeholders in the power system, including private investors, has to be considered in the optimal planning of the grid. An abundance of literature is available to address the central planning authority's perspective; however, optimal planning from an investor's perspective is not widely available. Therefore, this thesis focuses on private investors' perspective.

An optimization model and techniques to facilitate a prospective investor to arrive at an optimal investment plan in large-scale solar PV generation projects are proposed and discussed in this thesis. The optimal set of decisions includes the location, sizing and time of investment that yields the highest profit. The mathematical model considers various relevant issues associated with PV projects such as location-specific solar radiation levels, detailed investment costs representation, and an approximate representation of the transmission system. A detailed case study considering the investment in large-scale solar PV projects in Ontario, Canada, is presented and discussed, demonstrating the practical application and usefulness of the proposed methodology and tools.

### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my supervisors Professor Kankar Bhattacharya and Professor Claudio A. Cañizares for their support and guidance throughout my studies. I was privileged to have very helpful discussions with them. Their exceptional understanding and dedication was very inspirational.

This work was carried out and funded as part of the project "Large-Scale Photovoltaic Solar Power Integration in Transmission and Distribution Networks" led by the University of Waterloo and the University of Western Ontario in collaboration with Ontario Centers of Excellence, Hydro One Networks, First Solar Inc., London Hydro, Blue Water Power Generation and Optisolar.

I would like to specially acknowledge Dr. Amirhossein Hajimiragha for his valuable contribution and insight regarding Ontario's transmission system and plans. I would also like to acknowledge Mr. Peter Carrie from First Solar Inc. for his comments regarding the current financial issues of solar PV projects.

I warmly thank all my friends and colleagues, especially Sumit Paudyal, Isha Sharma, Ahsan Hashmi, Mohammad Chehreghani and Behnam Tamimi for providing a very pleasant working environment and making me feel at home.

A heartfelt gratitude goes to my loving family, including my mother Nusrat Fatima and my brother Tauqir Hasan for all the sacrifices they had to make and for all their love and encouragement.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank Almighty God for giving me the strength, knowledge and patience needed to complete my studies.

# Dedication

To my loving family.

# **Table of Contents**

| Author's Declaration                                     | ii  |
|--|-----|
| Abstract   | iii |
| Acknowledgements   | iv  |
| Dedication   | v   |
| Table of Contents  | vi  |
| List of Figures  | ix  |
| List of Tables   | xi  |
| List of Abbreviations                                    | xii |
| Nomenclature   | xiv |
| Chapter 1 Introduction                                   | 1   |
| 1.1 Motivation   | 1   |
| 1.2 Literature Review                                    | 5   |
| 1.3 Objectives   | 8   |
| 1.4 Thesis Content                                       | 9   |
| Chapter 2 Background                                     | 10  |
| 2.1 Solar Energy Basics                                  | 10  |
| 2.1.1 Elements of a Solar PV System                      | 11  |
| 2.1.2 Classification of Solar PV Power Plants            | 13  |
| 2.2 Economic Evaluation Criteria of Solar PV Systems     | 13  |
| 2.2.1 Least-cost solar energy                            | 14  |
| 2.2.2 Life cycle cost (LCC)                              | 14  |
| 2.2.3 Annualized life cycle cost (ALCC)                  | 14  |
| 2.2.4 Payback Period (PBP)                               | 14  |
| 2.2.5 Return on Investment (ROI)                         | 15  |
| 2.2.6 Net Present Value (NPV) or Net Present Worth (NPW) | 15  |
| 2.3 Mathematical Modeling Tools                          | 16  |
| 2.3.1 DC Power Flow                                      | 16  |
| 2.3.2 Mixed Integer Linear Programming                   | 17  |
| 2.3.3 Monte Carlo Simulations                            | 17  |
| 2.4 Summary  | 19  |

| Chapter 3 An Investor-oriented Large-Scale Solar PV Planning Model                       | 20 |
|--|----|
| 3.1 Introduction   | 20 |
| 3.2 Optimization Model Development   | 20 |
| 3.2.1 Objective Function   | 20 |
| 3.2.2 Constraints  | 21 |
| 3.3 Solar PV Power Generation and Capacity Factor Model                                  | 24 |
| 3.4 Summary  | 25 |
| Chapter 4 Ontario's Electricity System Model and Input Parameters                        | 26 |
| 4.1 Generation Plan and Forecast Estimates   | 26 |
| 4.1.1 Conventional Generation Capacity Factor Evaluation                                 | 27 |
| 4.2 Demand Forecast Estimates  | 27 |
| 4.3 Transmission System Model Framework  | 28 |
| 4.4 Solar PV Capacity Factors Evaluation   | 30 |
| 4.4.1 NASA SSE Dataset   | 31 |
| 4.4.2 Zonal Solar PV Monthly Energy Yield and Capacity Factors                           | 31 |
| 4.5 Development of cost model parameters   | 33 |
| 4.5.1 Equipment cost   | 33 |
| 4.5.2 Land cost  | 34 |
| 4.5.3 Transportation cost  | 35 |
| 4.5.4 Labor cost   | 36 |
| 4.5.5 Total Capital Cost   | 37 |
| 4.6 Summary  | 40 |
| Chapter 5 Results and Discussions  | 41 |
| 5.1 Deterministic Case Study   | 41 |
| 5.2 Probabilistic Case Study   | 43 |
| 5.2.1 Scenario 1: Variation in Discount Rate   | 44 |
| 5.2.2 Scenario 2: Variation in Solar PV Generation Capacity Factors                      | 47 |
| 5.2.3 Scenario 3: Variation in Discount Rate and Capacity Factors of Solar PV generation | 49 |
| 5.3 Summary  | 52 |
| Chapter 6 Conclusions  | 53 |
| 6.1 Thesis Summary   | 53 |
| 6.2 Contributions of the Thesis  | 54 |

| 6.3 Future Work | 55 |
|-----------------|----|
| Bibliography    |    |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1-1 PV modules prices in Canada [2]   | 1  |
|--|----|
| Figure 1-2 Cumulative installed solar PV power capacity as per the IEA-PVPS [1]                  | 2  |
| Figure 1-3 Percentages of grid-connected and off-grid PV power capacity as per IEA PVPS [1]      | 3  |
| Figure 1-4 Proposed large-scale solar PV roadmap [7].  | 3  |
| Figure 2-1. The 80 MW, Sarnia Solar Project, Ontario, Canada (Photo credit: Behnam Tamimi)       | 10 |
| Figure 2-2. Depiction of PV system modularity.   | 12 |
| Figure 2-3. Historical overview of the PV system inverter topology [27]                          | 12 |
| Figure 2-4. An example illustrating NPV as a function of discount rate                           | 15 |
| Figure 2-5. A typical deterministic model.   | 18 |
| Figure 2-6. Monte Carlo simulation method representation.  | 18 |
| Figure 3-1. Conceptual depiction of solar capacity factor evaluation.                            | 24 |
| Figure 4-1. Conventional generation capacity plans of Ontario (2008-2025).                       | 26 |
| Figure 4-2. CDM plans and estimates for Ontario (2008-2038).                                     | 28 |
| Figure 4-3. Effective peak demand estimates for Ontario (2008-2038).                             | 28 |
| Figure 4-4. Ontario transmission network representation  | 29 |
| Figure 4-5: Simplified transmission network model.   | 30 |
| Figure 4-6. Average monthly energy yield from a typical solar PV module                          | 32 |
| Figure 4-7. Annualized solar PV capacity factors.  | 32 |
| Figure 4-8. Solar PV equipment cost long-term projection.  | 33 |
| Figure 4-9. Ontario's zonal land cost projection for 2008-2038                                   | 34 |
| Figure 4-10. Ontario's zonal transportation cost projection for 2008-2038.                       | 35 |
| Figure 4-11. Ontario's zonal labor cost projection for 2008-2038.                                | 36 |
| Figure 4-12. Ontario's zonal capital cost projection for 2008-2038                               | 37 |
| Figure 4-13. Capital cost components (excluding equipment cost) of a solar PV system in 2010     | 38 |
| Figure 4-14. Percentage distribution of solar PV capital cost components in Bruce in 2010        | 39 |
| Figure 5-1. New solar PV capacity investments in Ontario   | 41 |
| Figure 5-2. Transmission line flows, generation and demand changes 2010-2018                     | 42 |
| Figure 5-3. Energy from solar PV and conventional generation sources.                            | 43 |
| Figure 5-4. Cumulative average of NPV over 2000 iterations.                                      | 44 |
| Figure 5-5. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000 iterations | 45 |
| Figure 5-6. Energy from solar PV and conventional sources.                                       | 46 |

| Figure 5-7. New solar PV capacity selection frequency.   | 46 |
|--|----|
| Figure 5-8. Cumulative average of NPV over 2000 iterations.  | 47 |
| Figure 5-9. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000 iterations   | 48 |
| Figure 5-10. Energy from solar PV and conventional sources.  | 48 |
| Figure 5-11. New solar PV capacity selection frequency   | 49 |
| Figure 5-12. Cumulative average NPV over 2000 iterations   | 50 |
| Figure 5-13. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000 iterations. | 50 |
| Figure 5-14. Energy from solar PV and conventional generation sources.                             | 51 |
| Figure 5-15. New solar PV capacity selection frequency   | 52 |

# List of Tables

| Table 1-1. Solar PV support mechanisms and indicative retail electricity price [1]    | 5  |
|---|----|
| Table 2-1. Classification of solar PV plants.   | 13 |
| Table 4-1. Generation growth rate estimates.  | 27 |
| Table 4-2. Zonal conventional generation capacity factors.                            | 27 |
| Table 4-3 Demand growth rates [39].   | 27 |
| Table 4-4. Planned transmission expansions in Ontario (2012-2017) [39].               | 30 |
| Table 4-5. Input parameter values for solar PV capacity factors evaluation [12], [45] | 31 |
| Table 4-6. Annual growth rates for median income in Ontario beyond 2010.              | 36 |
| Table 4-7. Annual growth rates for solar PV cost components.                          | 38 |
| Table 4-8. Other input parameters considered in this work.                            |    |

# List of Abbreviations

| PV                   | Photovoltaic  |
|----------------------|---|
| IEA                  | International Energy Agency                           |
| PVPS                 | Photovoltaic Power Systems Program                    |
| PVGCS                | Photovoltaic Grid Connected System                    |
| FIT                  | Feed-in Tariff  |
| RESOP                | Renewable Energy Standard Offer Program               |
| IESO                 | Independent Electricity System Operator               |
| OPA                  | Ontario Power Authority                               |
| OPG                  | Ontario Power Generation                              |
| RPS                  | Renewable Portfolio Standard                          |
| LCC                  | Life Cycle Cost                                       |
| ALCC                 | Annualized Life Cycle Cost                            |
| PBP                  | Pay Back Period                                       |
| NPV                  | Net Present Value                                     |
| NPW                  | Net Present Worth                                     |
| OECD                 | Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development |
| TGC                  | Tradable Green Certificate                            |
| IRR                  | Internal Rate of Return                               |
| ROI                  | Return On Investment                                  |
| ELI                  | Energy Location Information                           |
| PWI                  | Positional Weight Information                         |
| SRUF                 | Solar Resource Unavailability Frequency               |
| SRAUD                | Solar Resource Average Unavailability Duration        |
| SPP                  | Small Power Producer                                  |
| LDC                  | Local Distribution Company                            |
| DG                   | Distributed Generation                                |
| GAMS                 | General Algebraic Modeling System                     |
| PPA                  | Power Purchase Agreement                              |
| $\operatorname{CSP}$ | Concentrated Solar Power                              |
| SEGS                 | Solar Energy Generating System                        |
| CIGS                 | Copper Indium Gallium Selenide                        |
| CdTe                 | Cadmium Telluride                                     |
| BOS                  | Balance Of System                                     |
| MPPT                 | Maximum Power Point Tracking                          |
| MILP                 | Mixed Integer Linear Programming                      |
| NASA                 | National Aeronautics and Space Administration         |
|                      |   |

| SSE  | Surface Meteorology and Solar Energy |
|------|--------------------------------------|
| SW   | South West                           |
| NE   | North East                           |
| NW   | North West                           |
| CDM  | Conservation and Demand Management   |
| IPSP | Integrated Power System Plan         |
| LMV  | Land Market Value                    |
|      |                                      |

# Nomenclature

# Indices

| i,j | Zone |
|-----|------|
| k   | Year |

### Parameters

| а                  | Discount rate [%]                               |
|--------------------|---|
| $EC_{k,i}$         | Equipment cost [\$/kW]                          |
| LC <sub>k,i</sub>  | Land cost [\$/kW]                               |
| TC <sub>k,i</sub>  | Transport cost [\$/kW]                          |
| LbC <sub>k,i</sub> | Labor cost [\$/kW]                              |
| $OM_{k,i}$         | Operation and maintenance cost [\$/kWh]         |
| $CF_i^{PV}$        | Solar PV capacity factor [%]                    |
| $CF_i^{conv}$      | Conventional generation capacity factor [%]     |
| $Cap_{k,i}^{conv}$ | Conventional generation capacity available [MW] |
| $PD_{k,i}^{eff}$   | Effective zonal peak demand [MW]                |
| $P_{k,ij}^{MAX}$   | Transmission line capacity [MW]                 |
| B <sub>k,ij</sub>  | Element of B-matrix [p.u.]                      |
| ρ                  | Price of energy sold to grid/utility [\$/kWh]   |
| ABud <sub>k</sub>  | Annual budget [\$]                              |
| TBud               | Total budget [\$]                               |
| $Po_{i,m}^{PV}$    | Monthly average power from solar PV module [kW] |
| $P_r^{PV}$         | Rated power of a typical solar PV module [kW]   |
| DB                 | Dead-band imposed on initial investment [years] |
| Ν                  | Investment period [years]                       |

| L                | Plant useful life [years]                          |
|------------------|--|
| Α                | Solar PV module area [m <sup>2</sup> ]             |
| I <sub>i</sub>   | Zonal solar radiation [kWh/m <sup>2</sup> -day]    |
| T <sub>i</sub>   | Zonal ambient temperature [°C]                     |
| $\eta_i$         | Solar PV system conversion efficiency [%]          |
| $\eta_o$         | Solar PV module efficiency [%]                     |
| $\eta_{inv}$     | Inverter efficiency [%]                            |
| n <sub>d,m</sub> | Number of daylight hours available per month [hrs] |
| n <sub>m</sub>   | Number of hours per month [hrs]                    |

# Variables

| Ω                 | Net present value of investor profit [\$]           |
|-------------------|---|
| $NC_{k,i}^{PV}$   | New solar PV capacity [MW]                          |
| $Cap_{k,i}^{PV}$  | Total solar PV capacity [MW]                        |
| P <sub>k,ij</sub> | Transmission line power flow [MW]                   |
| $\delta_{k,i}$    | Zone power angle [rad]                              |
| $P_{k,i}^{conv}$  | Power dispatched from conventional generation [MW]  |
| $P_{k,i}^{PV}$    | Power dispatched from solar PV generation [MW]      |
| $E_{k,i}^{conv}$  | Energy available from conventional generation [MWh] |
| $E_{k,i}^{PV}$    | Energy available from solar PV generation [MWh]     |
| σ                 | Standard deviation of NPV [\$ or p.u.]              |
| μ                 | Mean of NPV [\$ or p.u.]                            |

# Chapter 1 Introduction

### **1.1 Motivation**

The depleting oil reserves, uncertainty and political issues concerning nuclear generation, and the environmental concerns associated with coal and natural gas-fired generation are encouraging researchers, practitioners and policy makers to look for alternative and sustainable sources of energy. Among them wind and solar generation have become preeminent in recent years.

The ease of installation, declining cost of technology and supportive government policies have been the catalysts for the fast growth of solar photo-voltaic (PV) generation in the world. Evolution of the price of PV modules as per International Energy Agency Photovoltaic Power Systems Program (IEA PVPS) indicates that the price of PV modules has reduced by 30 - 60% of its value in the last 10 years [1]. Figure 1-1 shows the reduction in PV module prices in Canada from 1999 to 2009. Figure 1-2 shows the cumulative installed solar PV capacity growth as per the IEA PVPS. It is observed that in a short duration of 6 years, from 2004 to 2009, the total global grid-connected solar PV capacity increased at an average annual rate of 60%, to a total capacity of about 21 GW [3].



Figure 1-1 PV modules prices in Canada [2].



Figure 1-2 Cumulative installed solar PV power capacity as per the IEA-PVPS [1].

In 2009, an estimated 7 GW of solar PV power capacity was installed world-wide (6.2 GW in the countries that report to IEA-PVPS). An impressive addition of 43.6% of new solar PV power capacity in 2009 is observed in Figure 1-2. In the province of Ontario, Canada, out of a total renewable energy generation capacity of 1,422 MW, solar PV generation capacity accounts for 525 MW [4]. The world's largest solar PV power plant with an installed capacity of 80 MW was completed and started commercial operation in Sarnia, Ontario, in October 2010 [5].

Grid-connected solar PV systems provide a quiet, low maintenance, pollutionfree, safe, reliable and independent alternative to conventional generation sources. Major breakthroughs in solar cell manufacturing technologies have enabled it to compete with conventional generation technologies in the large-scale as well. Hence, an expected global shift toward grid-connected PV power world-wide is observed (Figure 1-3); according to IEA, 99% of the total solar PV capacity added during 2009 was gridconnected. The European PV Technology Platform Group ambitiously forecasts solar PV to reach grid parity in most of Europe by 2019 [6]. At the beginning of 2009, the total large-scale or MW-scale PV system installed capacity reported by the IEA had reached about 3 GW [7]. A report submitted by IEA-PVPS Task 8 (Figure 1-4) participants predicts that during the middle of the 21<sup>st</sup> century PV systems of even greater installed capacity ranging in GW could be realized [7]. Thus large-scale PV systems are a promising option to meet future global electricity demand.



Figure 1-3 Percentages of grid-connected and off-grid PV power capacity as per IEA PVPS [1].



Figure 1-4 Proposed large-scale solar PV roadmap [7].

The rate of deployment of solar PV systems is greatly influenced by the perception of general public and utilities, local, national and international policies, as well as the availability of suitable standards and codes to govern it. Among a variety of support mechanisms put in place in different IEA PVPS participating countries (Table 1-1), it is clearly evident that Feed-in Tariffs (FITs) are the main reason behind the strong growth in PVGCS applications in 2009, particularly in Australia, Austria, Canada and Switzerland [1].

The Government of Ontario, Canada, which has an ambitious target of phasing out coal generation by 2014, passed the Green Energy and Green Economy Act of Ontario in May 2009 [8]. This established North America's first comprehensive guaranteed pricing structure for renewable energy production, referred to as Ontario's FIT. The FIT program replaced the Renewable Energy Standard Offer Program (RESOP) which was in existence since 2007. Ontario Power Authority (OPA) is responsible for the FIT program and offers lucrative prices to investors under long-term contracts for energy generated from biomass, biogas, landfill gas, on-shore & off-shore wind, water power and solar photovoltaic (PV) sources [9]. This program opens up tremendous opportunities for entrepreneurs and investors who are willing to be a part of this green revolution. Such initiatives leads to decentralized operating and planning of the power system, wherein grid-connected solar PV systems are a vital part, reducing the need for transmission and distribution reinforcements and generating power where it is needed. Moreover, with a smooth transition to renewable and clean energy sources, the next generation will inherit a better environment. The FIT contract price schedule for larger projects, revised in August 2010, allows the highest rates to investments in solar PV system up to 10 MW [9]. In order to make the most of this offer, the groundmounted solar PV system is the only realistic option compared to the roof-top system.

|  | AUS | AUT | CAN | CHE | DNK | DEU | ESP | FRA | ISR | ITA | Ndf | KOR | MEX | MYS | NLD | NOR | PRT | SWE | TUR | USA |
|--|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| Enhanced feed-in tariffs               | •   | •   | •   | •   |     | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   |     |     | •   |     | •   | •   |     | •   |
| Direct capital subsidies               | •   | •   |     | •   |     | •   |     | •   |     | •   | •   | •   |     | •   |     |     |     | •   |     | •   |
| Green electricity schemes              | •   | •   | •   | •   |     | •   | •   |     |     | •   | •   |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| PV-specific green electricity schemes  | •   | •   |     | •   |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Renewable portfolio<br>standards (RPS) | •   |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   | •   |     |     |     |     |     | •   |     | •   |
| PV requirement in RPS                  |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Investment funds for PV                |     |     | •   |     |     | •   | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Tax credits                            |     |     | •   | •   |     |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |
| Net metering                           | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     |     | •   | •   |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Net billing                            |     |     | •   | •   |     | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Commercial bank activities             | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     |     | •   |     | •   |     |     |     | •   |     |     |     | •   | •   |
| Electricity utility activities         | •   |     | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   |     |     |     | •   |     |     |     |     |     |     |     |     | •   |
| Sustainable building requirements      | •   |     | •   | •   | •   | •   | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     |     |     |     | •   |     | •   | •   |

Table 1-1. Solar PV support mechanisms and indicative retail electricity price [1].

• The support mechanism is applicable in this country.

#### **1.2 Literature Review**

The viability of solar PV systems is examined in [10], where a sensitivity analysis is carried out to estimate their comparative viability with conventional diesel-powered units based on region specific parameters. A Life Cycle Cost (LCC) analysis using cost annuity method is applied. Cost comparisons reveal that PV systems have the lowest cost when the daily energy demand is low. It also concludes that the break-even point occurs at high energy demand as the cost of solar PV systems decrease and diesel cost increases.

In [11], a detailed size and design optimization of solar PV grid-connected systems is carried out using genetic algorithms to determine the optimal number of PV modules, the configuration of the arrays/strings, the PV module tilt angles, number of DC/AC converters, allocation of PV modules among the converters and the dimensions of the actual installation area. The effect of high level of penetration of grid-connected solar PV in the distribution network is analyzed in [12]. This work examines voltage drop, network losses and grid benefits on two different geographic locations with different climates (Lisbon and Helsinki). Three types of network configurations in the two regions are compared on the basis of peak-load shaving, reduction in network loss and voltage profile change occurring from large-scale PV penetration.

A technical and economic assessment of grid-connected solar PV systems for South East Queensland is presented in [13]. Although Australian national guidelines for grid connection are available, every utility imposes its own regulations on the specifications for grid connection along with the metering and tariff structure. The paper deals with the local utility, Energex, which offers three types of tariff for purchase and two for the sale of electricity. Four scenarios are assumed, representing a combination of the tariff structures, metering and PV system configuration (gridinteractive/battery-charging). Simple Pay Back Period (PBP), LCC analysis of Net Present Value (NPV) and sensitivity analysis are carried out, considering the cost parameters, tariff structure and grid interconnection policy of the region. It is concluded that even though small-scale PV is feasible under the prevailing conditions, the electricity tariff for PV needs to be substantially enhanced so that it returns an acceptable PBP to attract private investors. The authors also suggest removing the limit on the energy transfer as well as advocate net metering.

The authors in [14] present easy-to-use charts and tables to enable a PV designer and an investor to assess the profitability of the system. These tools are based on two different economic scenarios corresponding to Japan and Europe/USA, as per discount and inflation rates. The economic incentives offered, by some of the countries in the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), to promote solar PV grid interconnection have also been incorporated. In addition to the two regional scenarios, the analysis is further expanded by considering five and ten year interest-free loan programs. The results are presented in the form of LCC and Present Worth per kW-peak for a 25 year system useful life.

A multi-objective optimization approach is applied in [15] to the optimal allocation and sizing of PV grid-connected systems (PVGCS) in feeders considering both technical and economical aspects. Three different PVGCS candidate locations are studied based on the improvement of voltage profiles, reduction in the power losses and locating PVGCS in each bus of the feeder. Twenty five PV penetration levels in 2 different distribution systems are studied to demonstrate the robustness and applicability of the method. The simulations reveal that PVGCS allocation based on voltage profile improvement yields the best results with least computation burden.

Economic policies such as FITs and Tradable Green Certificates (TGCs) to enhance the solar PV electricity generation in western European countries is analyzed in detail in [16]. A comparative economic analysis based on PBP, NPV and Internal Rate of Return (IRR) indices for a 10 kW-peak building integrated PV residential system considering net metering and other investment subsidies is performed. This study reveals that, in some situations, these support policies can be inconvenient for the owner and, in many cases, the same support policy implementation results in totally different results in different countries. The authors propose that this analysis could help, firstly, the member states to assess the impact of these policies, and secondly, potential PV investors to identify the most profitable scenario.

A framework of a planning model for PV generation integration in China is presented in [17] considering economic feasibility, environmental impact and security. The author proposes various indices to be considered in the planning process, such as, energy location information (ELI), and positional weight information (PWI), and briefly defines the concepts of solar resource unavailability frequency (SRUF) and solar resource average unavailability duration (SRAUD) to present a conceptual framework for a planning model.

Long-term effects of FIT, carbon taxes and cap-and-trade on renewable energy investments by small power producers (SPPs) and/or local distribution company (LDC) are presented in [18]. It is concluded that government incentives such as FIT are necessary to attract investments in solar PV, and that adding either a carbon tax or capand-trade mechanism to the FIT would result in reduction of both emissions and energy cost.

Finally, in [19], a coordination scheme for approval of DG investment proposals is presented. This scheme relies on an iterative process satisfying both the objectives of the LDC, which is to maximize DG participation and penetration, and the SPP, which is to maximize profit based on sizing, siting and production schedule.

#### **1.3 Objectives**

The presented literature review shows that the development of decision making tools for an investor in large-scale ( $\geq 5$  MW) solar PV, not concerned with system-wide operation or planning, are not generally available in the current technical literature. It is important to highlight the fact that the primary purpose of this work is to present an investor-oriented solar PV planning model and the results are meant to aid private investors in their decision making. Generally, in the prevalent decentralized power systems, private investors do not own or operate the transmission network and are hence not solely responsible for its performance, security or reliability; therefore, the traditional centralized planning aspects such as minimization of overall system losses and overall system security are not considered here. This is in line with the current investment trends in many power systems with the influx of private investments, driven by various incentives and support policy mechanisms offered by governments. However, the model presented here incorporates transmission constraints, power angle constraints and power flow equations in the planning framework, thus making the results viable from a systems' point of view as well. Thus, this model can be considered as the first stage of a two stage planning framework for a decentralized power system, as discussed in [19].

In order to make an enlightened decision, the investor needs to be aware of several parameters which affect the output of grid-connected solar PV plants. Therefore, the main objectives of this thesis are:

- Develop an optimal planning model to determine long-term investment decisions in large-scale solar PV projects from an investor's perspective.
- Properly incorporate the existent generation and transmission plans, as well as adequately model the grid in the proposed methodology.
- Account in the analysis, the differences in the solar PV potential of each region, along with a detailed study of the solar PV cost components; considering each individual component in each region and projecting future cost trends based on past data.
- Consider in the model the local policy and regulatory framework for PV deployment, such as FIT, TGCs, direct capital subsidies, income tax credits, net metering, etc.
- Perform uncertainty analyses to analyze the effect of variability in the input parameters using a Monte Carlo simulation approach.
- Demonstrate the applicability of the proposed model to study the case of a prospective investor in Ontario's booming solar PV sector.

### **1.4 Thesis Content**

The structure of the thesis is as follows: Chapter 2 provides a brief background of the technical considerations and relevant economic evaluation criteria of solar PV systems, optimal power flow modeling in GAMS, and Monte Carlo simulations. Chapter 3 presents the proposed investor-centric generation planning model to determine the optimal investment decisions in solar PV. Chapter 4 discusses the Ontario case study, which includes development of cost components, the transmission system model, and evaluation of solar PV and conventional generation capacity factors. Chapter 5 presents the analysis of the results obtained from the Ontario case, including a probabilistic study to consider relevant parameter uncertainties. Finally, the main conclusions, and contributions of this thesis and possible future work are highlighted in Chapter 6.

# Chapter 2 Background

### 2.1 Solar Energy Basics

The sun is a non-intermittent and almost inexhaustible source of energy. The total amount of solar energy absorbed by the earth in one hour is comparable to the total global energy consumption in one year [20]. This large amount of solar energy incident on the earth remains unharnessed, mainly because of one major reason: the technology needed to make this energy usable in a more conventional manner is still not economically viable. Solar energy can be harnessed to generate electricity mainly by two different technologies:

• Photovoltaic (PV) Cell Technology relies upon the direct conversion of solar radiation into electricity using semiconductors that exhibit a photoelectric effect, such as crystalline silicon or different combinations of thin-film materials [21]. Figure 2-1 shows the world's largest solar PV power plant in commercial operation in Sarnia, Ontario, Canada, with a total installed capacity of 80 MW as of October 2010. It is operated by First Solar on behalf of Enbridge Inc. and occupies 950 acres of land with 1.3 million recyclable thin-film PV modules. This investment, which exceeds \$400 million, became economically feasible after signing a 20 year Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) to sell energy to OPA under RESOP [22].



Figure 2-1. The 80 MW, Sarnia Solar PV Project, Ontario, Canada. (Photo credit: Behnam Tamimi)

Concentrated Solar Power (CSP) Technology relies on concentrating the solar radiation, using lenses and mirrors onto a small area. The concentrated light/heat is then used as a heat source for a conventional power plant; this phenomenon is known as solar thermo-electricity [23]. The four most common forms of this technology are: parabolic trough, dish stirlings, concentrating linear Fresnel reflector, and solar power tower. This classification is based on the different techniques used to track solar radiation and focus it; however, the underlying principle is essentially the same. Ongoing research in this field is enabling these technologies to become cost competitive and commercially viable. Among them, the most notable plants in commercial use are: the PS10 Solar Power Plant (Planta Solar 10) in Spain [24], which is Europe's first commercial CSP tower with an installed capacity of 11 MW and 624 large movable mirrors (heliostats), and Solar Energy Generating System (SEGS) in California-USA, which is the largest solar energy generating facility in the world, consisting of 9 plants across the Mojave Desert with about 1 million parabolic mirrors covering over 1600 acres. Although the SEGS combined installed capacity is 354 MW, the average gross output is just 75 MW indicating a low capacity factor (21%) [25].

Since the focus of this thesis is restricted to electricity generation through PV cells, the following sub-section discusses the elements of a PV system and its various applications throughout the world.

#### 2.1.1 Elements of a Solar PV System

PV cells are the building blocks of a PV system as they utilize the photoelectric effect to convert sunlight into electricity. Although crystalline silicon PV cells are the earliest and most successful PV devices used largely in the world today, they are being gradually replaced by the cheaper thin-films or ribbons, mainly composed of Cadmium Telluride (CdTe), Copper Indium Gallium Selenide (CIGS), amorphous and microcrystalline silicon, etc. Generally, PV cells are a few inches across in size and are connected together to form PV modules which are typically 1 square meter in size. These PV modules may be connected and/or combined to form PV arrays which yield a desired output (Figure 2-2). These PV modules represent the core of any PV system. However, a PV system cannot be complete without the balance of system components, which include, power conditioning equipment (inverters, maximum power point trackers, etc.); mounting hardware, electrical connections and if required, batteries. Depending on the size of the system, type and positioning of the power conditioning equipment, the need for energy storage, grid-interconnection standards/policies, efficiency and overall system costs, there exists a variety of PV system topologies such as central, string, multi-string and ac-module topology (Figure 2-3) [26].



Figure 2-2. Depiction of PV system modularity.



Figure 2-3. Historical overview of the PV system inverter topology [26].

#### 2.1.2 Classification of Solar PV Power Plants

A solar PV power plant can be categorized based on the way it supplies power to the consumer, as shown in Table 2-1 [1].

| Type of system  | Application                      | Features                                 |
|-----------------|----------------------------------|--|
| Off-grid,       | To meet the energy demand of     | Most appropriate technology utilized     |
| domestic        | remote house-holds and           | globally to provide electricity for off- |
|                 | villages, far-off from the grid. | grid communities.                        |
| Off-grid, non-  | Provide power for                | The first commercial application of      |
| domestic        | telecommunication, water-        | terrestrial PV systems. Instigated       |
|                 | pumping, vaccine                 | competition with small conventional      |
|                 | refrigeration and navigational   | generation technologies.                 |
|                 | aids.                            |  |
| Grid-connected, | Provide power to a number of     | Can be integrated into the               |
| distributed     | grid-connected customers on      | customer's premises to increase          |
|                 | their premises or directly to    | reliability and reduce dependency on     |
|                 | the grid.                        | the grid. Plays a role in the smart-     |
|                 |                                  | grid.                                    |
| Grid-connected, | Provide bulk power as a          | Oil independence and reduction in        |
| centralized     | centralized power station.       | green-house-gases with minimum           |
|                 |                                  | operation and maintenance                |
|                 |                                  | expenditure.                             |

Table 2-1. Classification of solar PV plants.

### 2.2 Economic Evaluation Criteria of Solar PV Systems

Solar PV systems are generally characterized by high fixed cost and low operation cost, unlike conventional generation sources which have substantially high operational costs that cannot be ignored in investment planning programs [27]. Several economic criteria

have been proposed in the literature for the evaluation of solar PV investments [28], as explained next.

#### 2.2.1 Least-cost solar energy

Least-cost energy is a reasonable criterion to choose among various alternatives. The system with the least cost of installation and operation is regarded as the desired plan.

#### 2.2.2 Life cycle cost (LCC)

LCC is the sum of all the costs associated with an energy delivery system over its entire useful life or over a specific period for analysis, taking into account the time value of money. The concept of LCC is to determine how much to be invested, considering the market discount rate, so as to have funds when they are needed in the future. The process works by bringing back the anticipated future cost at the present cost. LCC analysis also considers inflation. This concept is slightly modified to consider the revenues generated by the system as well as the cost, discount rate and inflation, and termed as life cycle savings or Net Present Worth (NPW) or Net Present Value (NPV), discussed below.

#### 2.2.3 Annualized life cycle cost (ALCC)

ALCC is the average yearly flow of money, the actual flow varies with year but the sum over the period can be converted to a series of equal payments. The same idea can be applied to consider annualized life cycle savings.

#### 2.2.4 Payback Period (PBP)

PBP is a non-life cycle criteria and simply calculates the time needed to recover the investment made. PBP is defined in many ways, but in the context of solar PV system cost analysis, PBP can be appropriately defined as the time needed for the cumulative revenue earned to equal the total initial investments, i.e. how long it takes to recover the initial investment made by selling energy. PBP is commonly calculated without discounting the revenue earned, which results in much faster and simpler calculations. It can also be calculated considering the discount rate, to arrive at a more realistic estimate.

#### 2.2.5 Return on Investment (ROI)

ROI is the market discount rate that results in zero NPV or zero life cycle savings. This is illustrated in Figure 2-4.



Figure 2-4. An example illustrating NPV as a function of discount rate.

#### 2.2.6 Net Present Value (NPV) or Net Present Worth (NPW)

NPV is the discounted sum of the revenue from selling the generated energy net of all costs associated with the energy delivery system. This criterion takes into account the time value of money and the useful life of the project. All anticipated costs are discounted to the present time, and are termed as the present worth of the cost. The NPV is the sum of all the present-worths, where present worth  $\Omega'$  of P at k years in the future, for a market discount rate a, can be calculated as:

$$\Omega' = \frac{P}{(1+a)^k} \tag{2.1}$$

Apart from the market discount rate, the recurring future cash flows might be assumed to inflate (or deflate) at a fixed percentage g. Hence, the worth of P at the end of the  $k^{th}$  year would be greater than P, and equal to  $P(1+g)^{k-1}$ . Furthermore, the present worth  $\Omega''$  after considering the inflation rate g of P at the end of year k can be given as:

$$\Omega'' = \frac{P(1+g)^{k-1}}{(1+a)^k} \tag{2.2}$$

Consequently, the sum of the present-worths of all the anticipated future savings would yield the NPW or NPV.

From a review of the literature it is observed that the most appropriate economic criteria for solar PV investment analysis is the NPV analysis [10], [11], [13], [18], [19], [28], [29], as it incorporates the entire life-cycle of the projects and hence the time value of money. Conventionally, NPV is calculated for all the proposed projects, and the project with the highest NPV is selected.

#### 2.3 Mathematical Modeling Tools

A discussion is presented next of some of the tools adopted and used for the development of the solar PV planning optimization model as well as its solution and analysis.

#### 2.3.1 DC Power Flow

In addition to provide the system operator with the "state" of the system at an instant, for a specific load demand and power generation, power flow analysis also plays a very useful part in planning studies, allowing to examine the feasibility of new investments in the power system. Particularly, for long-term policy studies or studies involving economic operation, the following DC Power Flow model is extensively used [30]:

$$P_i^{gen} - P_i^{dem} = \sum_j B_{ij} (\delta_i - \delta_j)$$
(2.3)

where  $P_i^{gen}$  represents the real power generator output at bus *i*,  $P_i^{dem}$  is the load demand at bus *i*,  $B_{ij}$  is an element of the B-matrix, representing the impedance of the transmission lines between bus *i* and bus *j*, and  $\delta_i$  is the power angle at the bus *i*. This power flow is usually optimized considering an economic objective function along with constraints on the upper and lower limits of  $P_i^{gen}$ ,  $\delta_i$  and the power flowing between the buses.

#### 2.3.2 Mixed Integer Linear Programming

Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) is a useful mathematical framework, in which both discrete and continuous variables can be used to describe a linear optimization problem. Generally, an MILP problem can be defined as [31]:

$$\min \mathbf{c}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{x}$$
  
s.t.  $\mathbf{A} \mathbf{x} \ge \mathbf{b}$  (2.4)  
 $\mathbf{l} \le \mathbf{x} \le \mathbf{u}$ 

where the matrices  $\mathbf{c}(n \times 1)$ ,  $\mathbf{A}(m \times n)$ ,  $\mathbf{b}(m \times 1)$ ,  $\mathbf{l}(n \times 1)$ , and  $\mathbf{u}(n \times 1)$  are input parameters, and  $\mathbf{x}$  is an n-vector of decision variables with g integer elements ( $1 \le g \le n$ ). Incorporating discrete variables in an optimization problem allows its applicability to realistic problems. The size of the new solar PV capacity addition in this work is thus considered a discrete variable.

The branch-and-bound algorithm is commonly used to solve MILP problems [32]; however, branch-and-price and branch-and-cut algorithms are also known to be efficient. The CPLEX solver [33], which is used in this work, utilizes a branch-and-cut algorithm for solving MILP problems. CPLEX allows the user to set an optimality tolerance using the parameter opter to set a relative termination tolerance, which means that the solver will stop and report on the first solution found, when the objective value is within 100\*opter of the best possible solution. In the present work, opter was set to 0.001, resulting in a 0.1% tolerance.

#### 2.3.3 Monte Carlo Simulations

Results of the optimization problem are directly dependent on the accuracy of the input parameters. Generally, these input parameters are evaluated from measurements, estimations, assumptions and historical data, and are prone to errors which cannot be accounted for with certainty. In order to account for the uncertainty in the input data, sensitivity analysis and stochastic programming techniques are generally used.

The typical deterministic model depicted in Figure 2-5, usually has a certain number of definite input parameters that yield a definite set of outputs, irrespective of how many times the output is evaluated. On the other hand, in a probabilistic or stochastic model even if the input parameters are known, there may be many possibilities of the outcome. Some outcomes can be more probable than others, described by probability distributions.



Figure 2-5. A typical deterministic model.

The Monte Carlo simulation method is a computational algorithm that relies on the analysis of repeated simulations of a sample set in order to consider uncertainty in the most critical input parameters of a deterministic model. The input parameters are assigned suitable probability distributions around their nominal or expected value or best estimate. Random values of the uncertain input parameters are generated from the probability distributions, which serve as the input to the deterministic model to yield a set of outputs; this comprises one iteration. The outputs are then recorded and this process is continued for a large number of iterations, until a convergence of the expected value of the output variable is observed. Typically, Monte Carlo simulations require iterations in the range of thousands for convergence to a solution. The recorded outputs are then analyzed and their frequency distributions are plotted, which reveal the probability distribution of the output variable, thus allowing a greater understanding of the model behavior, such as the likelihood of an output variable to have a certain desired value. This method is illustrated in Figure 2-6.



Figure 2-6. Monte Carlo simulation method representation.

#### 2.4 Summary

The major technologies utilized in harnessing solar energy were discussed in this chapter. The current trend of solar PV systems, the basic components, configurations and their classification was presented. Of the various economic criteria used to evaluate the economic feasibility of solar PV systems, it was determined that the most appropriate criteria is the NPV analysis. A brief background of power system planning and mathematical modeling techniques was also presented in this chapter, focusing on the dc power flow model and MILP, which are the most suitable mathematical models for the current work. Finally, uncertainty analysis through a Monte Carlo simulation approach was also discussed.

# **Chapter 3**

### An Investor-oriented Large-Scale Solar PV Planning Model

#### **3.1 Introduction**

This chapter presents the optimal investment planning model for large-scale solar PV generation in an existing power grid. The model incorporates dc power flow models to maintain a nodal supply-demand balance over the plan period, while considering some grid security aspects. The present and future generation and demand information, transmission system parameters, solar PV and conventional generation capacity factors are considered with adequate accuracy for a planning problem of this nature. The entire model is designed from the perspective of a prospective investor. Thus, the objective of the model is to arrive at decisions that yield the most profitable investment while satisfying relevant technical and financial constraints.

#### **3.2 Optimization Model Development**

In this section, the proposed optimization model, including the objective function and constraints, are presented and discussed in detail. All variables and parameters throughout this section are properly defined in the Nomenclature section. The proposed optimization model is linear and most of the decision variables are continuous, while the investment selection variables are binary. This results in a Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) model that can be solved, for example, in GAMS using the CPLEX solver [33], as in the case of this thesis.

#### **3.2.1 Objective Function**

The objective is to maximize the investor's NPV  $(\Omega)$  of the profit. Based on the annual cash flow over the useful life of the new investments,  $\Omega$  is calculated for a discount rate a, as follows:

Maximize 
$$\Omega = \sum_{k} \frac{\sum_{i} (Revenue_{k,i} - Cost_{k,i})}{(1+a)^{k}}$$
 (3.1)

where  $Cost_{k,i}$  denotes the total annualized project cost in year k and zone i, which includes annualized values of equipment cost  $EC_{k,i}$ , transportation/freight cost  $TC_{k,i}$ , land cost  $LC_{k,i}$  and labor cost  $LbC_{k,i}$  associated with new investments  $NC_{k,i}^{PV}$ . It also includes operation and maintenance cost  $OM_{k,i}$  associated with inverter replacements and periodic maintenance checks. Thus:

$$Cost_{k,i} = \left( EC_{k,i} + TC_{k,i} + LC_{k,i} + LbC_{k,i} \right) NC_{k,i}^{PV} + OM_{k,i}E_{k,i}^{PV}$$
(3.2)

In (3.1), the annual revenue generated by new investments is calculated based on the amount of energy  $E_{k,i}^{PV}$  injected into the grid and the negotiated contact price  $\rho$ :

$$Revenue_{k,i} = \rho E_{k,i}^{PV}$$
(3.3)

The aforementioned cost components and revenue stream are annualized considering the total plant life *L*. Also, note that the variable  $NC_{k,i}^{PV}$  is discrete in 5 MW capacity investment blocks. The negotiated contract price is assumed to remain constant over the total plant life; however, the period of contract may not always be equal to the plant life.

#### **3.2.2 Constraints**

#### 3.2.2.1 Demand-supply Balance

The effective power demand of each zone is met by existing conventional generation and new solar PV generation while considering the transmission network representation through the dc power flow model.

$$P_{k,i}^{conv} + P_{k,i}^{PV} - PD_{k,i}^{eff} + \sum_{j} P_{k,ij} = 0$$
(3.4)

#### 3.2.2.2 Line Flow Limits

The power transferred between the zones depends on the impedance of the transmission lines. The power transfers must not exceed the maximum transfer limits of each of the transmission lines. Thus:

$$P_{k,ij} = -B_{k,ij} \left( \delta_{k,i} - \delta_{k,j} \right) \tag{3.5}$$

$$P_{k,ij} \le P_{k,ij}^{MAX} \tag{3.6}$$
#### 3.2.2.3 Power Angle Limits

The power angles are constrained to be within a range to ensure system stability. Hence:

$$\delta_{\min} \le \delta_{k,i} \le \delta_{\max} \tag{3.7}$$

#### 3.2.2.4 Energy Generation from Conventional Sources

Zonal capacity factors of conventional generation  $CF_i^{conv}$  can be evaluated using the system's historical data of generator outputs and available capacity. Based on these capacity factors, the annual energy available from conventional generation sources  $E_{k,i}^{conv}$  is constrained as follows:

$$E_{k,i}^{conv} \le 8760 \ Cap_{k,i}^{conv} CF_i^{conv} \tag{3.8}$$

$$E_{k,i}^{conv} = 8760 \, P_{k,i}^{conv} \tag{3.9}$$

#### 3.2.2.5 Energy Generation from Solar PV Sources

Zonal capacity factors of solar PV generation  $CF_i^{PV}$  can be determined from solar energy data, as discussed in Section 4.4 for the Ontario case. Based on these capacity factors the annual energy available from the solar PV generation sources  $E_{k,i}^{PV}$  is constrained as follows:

$$E_{k,i}^{PV} \le 8760 \ Cap_{k,i}^{PV} CF_i^{PV} \tag{3.10}$$

$$E_{k,i}^{PV} = 8760 P_{k,i}^{PV} \tag{3.11}$$

#### 3.2.2.6 Dynamic Constraint on Solar PV Capacity Addition

This constraint ensures that the solar PV capacity for the next year is the sum of the new capacity installed in a year and the cumulative capacity of previous years. This cumulative sum is considered only for the investment period as follows:

$$Cap_{k+1,i}^{PV} = Cap_{k,i}^{PV} + NC_{k,i}^{PV} \qquad \forall k = 1, 2, ..., (N-1)$$
(3.12)

#### 3.2.2.7 Constraint on Initial Year Investment

This constraint ensures that there are no investments made during the first few years to account for budgeting delays, policy changes and other transitory effects. Thus:

$$Cap_{k,i}^{PV} = 0 \qquad \forall k = 1, 2, ..., DB$$
 (3.13)

#### 3.2.2.8 Constraint on Terminal Year Investment

The solar PV capacity remains unchanged beyond the plan period, thereby implying that there are no new investments beyond year *N*. Thus:

$$Cap_{k+1,i}^{PV} \le Cap_{k,i}^{PV} \qquad \forall k = N$$
(3.14)

# 3.2.2.9 Decommissioning of Solar PV Units

After a useful life of *L* years, each solar PV investment is considered to be phased out of operation. Hence:

$$Cap_{k+L+1,i}^{PV} = Cap_{k+L,i}^{PV} - NC_{k,i}^{PV} \qquad \forall k = 1, 2, ..., (N-1)$$
(3.15)

## 3.2.2.10 Annual Budget Limit

This constraint ensures that the annual cost of new solar PV installations is constrained by an annual budget limit. Thus:

$$\sum_{i} CC_{k,i}^{PV} NC_{k,i}^{PV} \le ABud_k \tag{3.16}$$

#### 3.2.2.11 Total Budget Limit

This constraint ensures that the total investment cost of new solar PV installations over the entire plan period is constrained by a budget limit. Hence:

$$\sum_{k} \sum_{i} \left( CC_{k,i}^{PV} N C_{k,i}^{PV} + OM_{k,i} E_{k,i}^{PV} \right) \le TBud$$

$$(3.17)$$

#### 3.3 Solar PV Power Generation and Capacity Factor Model

Zonal solar PV capacity factors can be evaluated based on zonal solar radiation and ambient temperature data, as demonstrated later in Section 4.4 for the Ontario case and depicted conceptually in Figure 3-1. These parameters, along with the number of daylight hours available at a certain location and the rated power of the module, determine the capacity factors, as discussed next.



Figure 3-1. Conceptual depiction of solar capacity factor evaluation.

The monthly solar radiation  $I_i$  and ambient temperature  $T_i$  data are commonly available in meteorological or solar energy data sets. These parameters can be used to find the solar PV system conversion efficiency  $\eta_i$  as given by (3.18), for a solar PV module efficiency  $\eta_o$  and dc to ac conversion efficiency  $\eta_{inv}$  [12], as follows:

$$\eta_i = \left[1 - 0.0042 \left(\frac{I_i}{18} + T_i - 20\right)\right] \eta_o \eta_{inv}$$
(3.18)

Consequently, the solar PV power output  $Po_{i,m}^{PV}$  with the total module area A is given by:

$$Po_{i,m}^{PV} = AI_i\eta_i \tag{3.19}$$

Equations (3.18) and (3.19) can be used to evaluate the energy available per unit area per period (month, quarter, etc.) for a particular type of solar module [28]. The energy produced is determined based on the number of daylight hours  $n_{d,m}$  available [34]. Therefore, the capacity factors are evaluated using the rating of the solar PV module  $P_r^{PV}$  as follows:

$$CF_{i}^{PV} = \frac{\sum_{m} \left( Po_{i,m}^{PV} n_{d,m} \right)}{P_{r}^{PV} \sum_{m} n_{m}}$$
(3.20)

#### 3.4 Summary

This chapter presented a generalized modeling framework to determine the optimal investment decisions in solar PV capacity addition from the perspective of an investor. Unlike the traditional and centralized planning models where minimization of total cost is considered as an objective, the present model seeks to maximize the net present value of the investor's profit. This chapter also discussed the development of the solar PV power generation and capacity factor model used in the planning framework. The input parameters for this model, for the case of Ontario, are discussed in the next chapter.

# **Chapter 4**

# **Ontario's Electricity System Model and Input Parameters**

#### 4.1 Generation Plan and Forecast Estimates

The solar PV investment planning model presented in chapter 3 requires zonal generation capacity growth estimates for the future. According to the Integrated Power System Plan (IPSP) of Ontario [35], and information provided by the OPA and IESO, a generation forecast estimate for each zone is determined for the period from 2008-2025 and is shown in Figure 4-1. The generation capacity forecast presented in Figure 4-1 is obtained by combining the information presented in [35] and [37] to arrive at the generation capability contributing to the peak load, rather than just the base load. Due to lack of sufficient data from 2025 onwards, the approximate zonal generation capacity growth rates shown in Table 4-1, as per historical data, are used to extrapolate the generation capacity until 2038.



Figure 4-1. Conventional generation capacity plans of Ontario (2008-2025).

| Zone   | Bruce | West | SW   | Niagara | Toronto | East | Ottawa | Essa | NE   | NW   |
|--|-------|------|------|---------|---------|------|--------|------|------|------|
| Generation<br>Growth Rates<br>beyond 2025<br>[%] | 3.00  | 0.00 | 0.00 | 2.00    | 2.00    | 0.00 | 0.00   | 1.00 | 1.00 | 0.00 |

Table 4-1. Generation growth rate estimates.

#### 4.1.1 Conventional Generation Capacity Factor Evaluation

Based on a two-month historical data of generation capability and production available from the IESO [38], and attributing each generator to its respective zone according to its location, the conventional generation capacity factors can be evaluated, as represented in Table 4-2.

Table 4-2. Zonal conventional generation capacity factors.

| Zone                   | Bruce | West  | SW    | Niagara | Toronto | East  | Ottawa | Essa  | NE    | NW    |
|------------------------|-------|-------|-------|---------|---------|-------|--------|-------|-------|-------|
| Capacity<br>Factor [%] | 91.76 | 24.28 | 27.82 | 73.55   | 83.46   | 35.63 | 15.20  | 71.24 | 43.89 | 52.47 |

#### 4.2 Demand Forecast Estimates

The model also requires the zonal peak demand forecast. Considering the zonal demand forecast for the period from 2007-2015 provided by the IESO, the zonal demand growth rates are calculated [35], as shown in Table 4-3. However in the present work, the conservation and demand management (CDM) plans presented in Ontario's IPSP, shown in Figure 4-2, have been considered to estimate the effective demand forecast and shown in Figure 4-3.

Table 4-3 Demand growth rates [35].

| Zone                         | Bruce | West | SW   | Niagara | Toronto | East | Ottawa | Essa | NE    | NW  |
|------------------------------|-------|------|------|---------|---------|------|--------|------|-------|-----|
| Annual<br>Growth Rate<br>[%] | 0.78  | 1.14 | 1.28 | 0.41    | 0.77    | 0.71 | 1.42   | 1.17 | -0.33 | 0.1 |



Figure 4-2. CDM plans and estimates for Ontario (2008-2038).



Figure 4-3. Effective peak demand estimates for Ontario (2008-2038).

#### 4.3 Transmission System Model Framework

In this work, a ten-zone transmission system model shown in Figure 4-4 has been developed based on information available from various resources, mainly the OPA, OPG and IESO [35]-[37], [39]. The model so developed represents the system in a detail that it is adequate for the proposed investment planning studies. It should be mentioned that the IESO also considers a similar model to provide forecast and assessments of

reliability of existing and committed resources and transmission facilities of the Ontario power system [39].



Figure 4-4. Ontario transmission network representation.

The simplified model obtained is shown in Figure 4-5, which depicts Ontario's transmission network, mainly comprising 500 kV and 230 kV lines. The transmission line parameters are evaluated from 2008 to 2038 based on Ontario's transmission expansion plans (Table 4-4), using typical values of transmission line parameters at these voltage levels [40]. The 115 kV and lower voltage level networks are neglected for the sake of simplicity. The approximate distances between zones, transmission line capacities and the line loading limits are also considered [35]. The transmission line capacities so evaluated serve as the upper limit for the line flows in (3.6).



Figure 4-5: Simplified transmission network model.

Table 4-4. Planned transmission expansions in Ontario (2012-2017) [35].

| Year | Corridor  | Current MW | Planned MW |
|------|---|------------|------------|
| 2012 | $\operatorname{Bruce}-\operatorname{Southwest}$ | 2560       | 4560       |
| 2012 | Southwest-Toronto                               | 3212       | 5212       |
| 2013 | Northeast-Northwest                             | 350        | 550        |
| 2015 | Bruce – West                                    | 1940       | 2440       |
| 2017 | Toronto – Essa                                  | 2000       | 2500       |
| 2017 | Essa-Northeast                                  | 1900       | 2400       |

## 4.4 Solar PV Capacity Factors Evaluation

In this work, zonal solar PV capacity factors are evaluated based on the zonal solar radiation and zonal ambient temperature data provided in NASA's Surface Meteorology and Solar Energy (SSE) data base [41].

#### 4.4.1 NASA SSE Dataset

To promote the use of global solar and meteorological data, NASA supports the development of a comprehensive SSE dataset that is formulated specifically for solar PV and renewable energy system design needs. These datasets contain over 200 satellitederived meteorology and solar energy parameters averaged monthly from 22 years of data. The data tables are available for a specific location on the globe for 1195 ground sites [41]. To use the data available in the SSE dataset, the geographical location of each zone in the model under consideration is approximately determined and respective data tables are retrieved from the database. From these data tables, the monthly solar radiation  $I_i$  and ambient temperature  $T_i$  are extracted for this work.

#### 4.4.2 Zonal Solar PV Monthly Energy Yield and Capacity Factors

For a typical solar PV module and dc to ac conversion efficiency, presented in Table 4-5, the energy produced per month, per module, is evaluated using equations (3.18)-(3.20) and shown in Figure 4-6. The energy produced, if the module operated on rated power for the whole month with specified number of daylight hours, helps determine the capacity factors of the solar PV system shown in Figure 4-7.

| Parameter  | Value |
|--|-------|
| Rated power of solar PV module, $P_r^{PV}$ [W]   | 140   |
| Total module area, $A [m^2]$                     | 1     |
| Module efficiency, $\eta_o$ [%]                  | 15    |
| DC to AC conversion efficiency, $\eta_{inv}$ [%] | 85    |

Table 4-5. Input parameter values for solar PV capacity factors evaluation [12], [42].



Figure 4-6. Average monthly energy yield from a typical solar PV module.



Figure 4-7. Annualized solar PV capacity factors.

#### 4.5 Development of cost model parameters

The cost of installing a solar PV power plant can be split into four main components: the equipment cost, land cost, transportation cost and labor cost [43]. These costs are dependent on a variety of parameters, as discussed next.

#### 4.5.1 Equipment cost

This cost reflects the cost of modules, inverters and balance of system (BOS). The per unit equipment cost  $EC_{k,i}$  is determined based on the number of modules and inverters required per unit of power produced, and is independent of the zone in which the plant is installed, as follows:

$$\binom{Equipment\ Cost}{\$/kW} = \binom{PV\ module\ cost}{\$/kW} + \binom{Inverter\ cost}{\$/kW} + \binom{BOS\ cost}{\$/kW}$$
(4.1)

The effect of technology change and the consequent expected reduction in module and inverter costs over the next 30 years, based on the trend over the last 10 years, is also taken into consideration, as shown in Figure 4-8 [44]. Note that BOS Cost is 20% of the module and inverter costs.



Figure 4-8. Solar PV equipment cost long-term projection.

#### 4.5.2 Land cost

The land cost reflects the cost of land required for the installation of the solar PV system. The per unit land cost  $LC_{k,i}$  is determined based on the proportional land market values (LMV) associated with the type of land available in abundance in each zone [45], as follows:

$$\binom{Land \ Cost}{\$/kW} = \binom{Land \ required \ per \ kW}{acre/kW} \times \binom{Unit \ cost \ of \ land}{\$/acre} \times (LMV \ Factor) \quad (4.2)$$

The increase in the land costs observed from 2005-2009 is extrapolated to obtain the land cost trends in the future [46], shown in Figure 4-9. Note that land required per kW is determined based on the past solar PV projects, and the unit cost of land is based on information provided by industrial experts in Ontario.



Figure 4-9. Ontario's zonal land cost projection for 2008-2038.

#### 4.5.3 Transportation cost

The transportation cost  $TC_{k,i}$  reflects the cost of transporting the equipment from the supply center (assumed to be Toronto here) to the construction site. In this work, the mode of transportation is considered to be trucking. In addition to the distances from the supply centers to the zones, the transportation cost also depends on the unit cost of freight [47], and the weight of the equipment [42], [48], as follows:

$$\binom{Transportation \ Cost}{\$/kW} = \binom{Freight \ cost}{\$/kg \cdot km} \times \binom{Equipment \ Weight}{kg/kW} \times \binom{Distance}{km} \quad (4.3)$$

The increase in the trucking costs since 2003, as per [49], are considered and used to determine future trucking costs, as shown in Figure 4-10.



Figure 4-10. Ontario's zonal transportation cost projection for 2008-2038.

#### 4.5.4 Labor cost

This cost reflects the cost of labor in each zone and is determined using the median income in the zone [50], after calculating the number of labor required for the construction of unit capacity solar PV power plant [2], as follows:

$$\binom{Labor\ Cost}{\$/kW} = \binom{Median\ income}{\$/man} \times \binom{Labor\ requied}{man/kW}$$
(4.4)

The increase in the median income is forecasted based on the census data of Ontario for the period from 2000 to 2005 [50], and is shown in Table 4-6. Note that the labor required is determined based on past solar PV projects.

Table 4-6. Annual growth rates for median income in Ontario beyond 2010.

|               | Bruce | West | SW   | Niagara | Toronto | East | Ottawa | Essa | NE   | NW   |
|---------------|-------|------|------|---------|---------|------|--------|------|------|------|
| Annual Income |       |      |      |         |         |      |        |      |      |      |
| Growth Rate   | 3.67  | 2.37 | 2.73 | 3.31    | 0.90    | 4.49 | 1.95   | 2.44 | 5.24 | 3.27 |
| [%]           |       |      |      |         |         |      |        |      |      |      |



Figure 4-11. Ontario's zonal labor cost projection for 2008-2038.

#### 4.5.5 Total Capital Cost

The solar PV cost model thus developed, realistically reflects the trends in these components in different zones in Ontario. The long-term capital cost projections, excluding the equipment cost component, are presented in Figure 4-12. The actual cost components obtained for 2010 are shown in Figure 4-13. The cost models realistically reflect the fine trends in the various components in different zones in Ontario. Even though the equipment cost component is the largest, it would not affect the spatial aspects of investment decisions because the equipment would cost the same wherever it may be installed. Figure 4-13 shows a break-up of the three components of capital cost, except the equipment cost, for each zone in Ontario for 2010. The long-term cost components are also forecasted based on a variety of reliable resources [2], [44]-[50], and are presented in Table 4-7.



Figure 4-12. Ontario's zonal capital cost projection for 2008-2038.



Figure 4-13. Capital cost components (excluding equipment cost) of a solar PV system in 2010.

|                           | Equipmer       | nt Cost       | Land                  | Transportation        |  |
|---------------------------|----------------|---------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--|
|                           | PV Module Cost | Inverter Cost | $\operatorname{Cost}$ | $\operatorname{Cost}$ |  |
| Annual Growth<br>Rate [%] | -1             | -0.8          | 2.56                  | 2.8                   |  |

Table 4-7. Annual growth rates for solar PV cost components.

Figure 4-14 shows the percentage distribution of solar PV capital cost components for zone 9 (Bruce) for the year 2010. The equipment cost component, which is independent of location, is the most significant followed by the cost of land and labor, while the transportation cost is just a fraction of the total capital cost.



Figure 4-14. Percentage distribution of solar PV capital cost components in Bruce in 2010.

The annual maintenance cost associated with the periodic check-ups and repairs of the modules and inverter replacements, as per [51], is also considered in the model as shown in Table 4-8, along with the remaining parameters considered in this work.

| Parameter   | Value         |
|---|---------------|
| Annual maintenance cost, <i>OM<sub>k,i</sub></i> [\$/kWh] | 0.01          |
| Power angle, $\delta_{min/max}$ [rad]                     | ±0.523 (±30°) |
| Investment dead-band, DB [years]                          | 2             |
| Discount rate, <i>a</i> [%]                               | 8             |
| Net inflation rate [%]                                    | 4             |
| Useful life, $L$ [years]                                  | 25            |
| Energy price, $ ho$ [\$/kWh]                              | 0.42          |
| Annual budget, ABud [\$/year]                             | 100,000,000   |
| Total budget, TBud [\$]                                   | 500,000,000   |
| Investment period, $N$ [years]                            | 2010 - 2018   |

Table 4-8. Other input parameters considered in this work.

#### 4.6 Summary

This chapter presented the Ontario's electricity system model considered as a ten-zone network, with its generation, demand and transmission capabilities, considering their future expansions. The development of solar PV capacity factors was described and the zonal variation of these factors was illustrated. The various cost components associated with the installation of a solar PV system were discussed, evaluated and long-term trends estimated. Finally, a summary of the remaining input parameters was also provided. This chapter lays the ground-work for the solar PV planning case study for Ontario to be discussed in the next chapter.

# Chapter 5 Results and Discussions

The proposed solar PV investment model, which is an MILP model, is solved using the CPLEX solver in GAMS with a 0.1% optimality tolerance. The results of both deterministic and probabilistic (to consider parameter uncertainties) analyses are shown and discussed in the next sections.

#### 5.1 Deterministic Case Study

The deterministic optimal investment plan for solar PV projects in Ontario is shown in Figure 5-1 which indicates that Zone 9 (Bruce) is the ideal zone to invest in solar PV to yield the maximum returns. Four investment projects of sizes  $3 \times 35$  MW + 30 MW respectively, are selected for the Bruce region (Zone 9) over the first four years (2010-2013) of the plan period. It is also noted that the planning model does not select any other zone for possible investment in solar PV capacity. This may be attributed to the fact that the proposed planning model is investor oriented and essentially seeks to maximize economic returns. This is in line with the current solar PV investment pattern in Ontario, which is driven by government supported financial incentives and zonal aspects of solar PV potential.



Figure 5-1. New solar PV capacity investments in Ontario.

Figure 5-2 shows the transmission line flow changes in the Ontario system over the investment period (2010-2018) arising from solar PV investments and the ongoing demand increase. Note that the tie-line linking Zone 9 to Zone 8 is the most affected transmission corridor in terms of transmission loading, which can be attributed to the 135 MW new solar PV capacity being commissioned in Zone 9, besides the increase of over 800 MW conventional generation and a slight decrease in the effective demand.



Figure 5-2. Transmission line flows, generation and demand changes 2010-2018.

The energy injected into the system annually over the plan period from new solar PV units is compared with that from conventional generation sources in Figure 5-3. Observe that although the conventional energy sources continue to serve the largest share of the demand, the contribution of solar energy increases over the investment period and attains a steady-state share after 2013. The NPV of all projects selected for investment is \$725 million, which represents an annual ROI of 37% (Note that the current best average annual rate of return in emerging markets is about 10%).



Figure 5-3. Energy from solar PV and conventional generation sources.

#### 5.2 Probabilistic Case Study

In order to account for the uncertainty in various model parameters, a Monte Carlo simulation approach can be used to determine the expected investment plans and associated decisions. The Monte Carlo simulation approach is based on the assumption that the uncertain parameters have an associated probability distribution function. The main parameters that may most directly influence the NPV and the associated investment decisions, are, discount rate, budget limits, negotiated contract price and solar PV investment costs. On the other hand, solar PV capacity factors, conventional generation capacity, effective demand and the transmission system have an indirect effect. Of the parameters directly influencing the NPV, the budget limits are considered to be at the discretion of the investor, and the negotiated contract price can be assumed to remain constant over the entire useful life of the project, as per Ontario's FIT program; the solar PV investment costs were evaluated based on historical data and are hence expected to steadily maintain their trends in the future. The existing transmission system, demand and generation capacity along with future expansions plans were carefully accounted for and hence are not expected to differ greatly from their assumed values over the investment horizon considered here. Therefore, to represent the risks associated with the investments and related profits over a period of time, discount rate can be considered as an uncertain parameter. Furthermore, even though zonal solar PV capacity factors were evaluated based on 22 years of historical data, their future values may also be considered uncertain due to their inherent variability.

Based on the aforementioned arguments, the discount rate and zonal solar PV capacity factors were considered to be the two most uncertain parameters in the proposed investment model. Thus, the discount rate is assumed here to be normally distributed with a mean of 8% in line with the current financial situation, and a standard deviation of 2% representing a variability of 25% around the mean to account for investment risks. The zonal solar PV capacity factors are assumed to be normally distributed around their base values, shown in Figure 4-7, with a standard deviation of 10% to account for their unpredictability.

#### 5.2.1 Scenario 1: Variation in Discount Rate

The average cumulative NPV of the investment plan is plotted over 2000 iterations of Monte Carlo simulations in Figure 5-4, resulting in an expected NPV of \$765 million. It should be highlighted that the expected NPV converges in about 1000 Monte Carlo simulations.



Number of iterations

Figure 5-4. Cumulative average of NPV over 2000 iterations.

Figure 5-5 shows the resulting histogram of the NPV of the probabilistic investment plan, resulting in a lognormal distribution with  $\mu = 20.409$  p.u. and  $\sigma = 0.30071$  p.u. Analysis of the histogram reveals that there are no negative values of NPV, which theoretically represents 100% project profitability even if the discount rate is varied.



Figure 5-5. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000 iterations.

The expected energy injected from new solar PV capacity addition depicted in Figure 5-6. Similar to the deterministic case, the conventional energy sources continue to serve the largest share of the demand, while the contribution of solar energy increases over the investment period and attains a steady-state share after 2013. Hence, the variation in discount rate does not affect the solar PV investments.



Figure 5-6. Energy from solar PV and conventional sources.

Observe in Figure 5-7 that the new investments are still concentrated in the first four years of the plan period and they are almost certainly to be installed in the Bruce region (Zone 9) mainly because of high solar energy availability in this zone. Thus, it can be concluded that the variation in the discount rate does not affect the investment decisions.



Figure 5-7. New solar PV capacity selection frequency.

#### 5.2.2 Scenario 2: Variation in Solar PV Generation Capacity Factors

The average cumulative NPV of the investment plan is plotted over 2000 iterations of Monte Carlo simulations in Figure 5-8, resulting in an expected NPV of \$1,087 million. It should be highlighted that the expected NPV converges in about 300 Monte Carlo simulations. (earlier as compared to the previous scenario).



Figure 5-8. Cumulative average of NPV over 2000 iterations.

Figure 5-9 shows the resulting histogram of the NPV of the probabilistic investment plan, resulting in a normal distribution with  $\mu = \$1.1$  billion and  $\sigma = \$142$  million. Analysis of the histogram reveals that there are no negative values of NPV, which theoretically represents 100% project profitability even if the discount rate is varied. Another interesting observation is that the NPV histogram constitutes an almost normal distribution, i.e. the same as that of the capacity factors.



Figure 5-9. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000 iterations.

The expected energy injected from new solar PV capacity addition is depicted in Figure 5-10. Similar to the previous case, the conventional energy sources continue to serve the largest share of the demand, while, the contribution of solar energy increases over the investment period and attains a steady-state share after 2013. Hence, the variation in capacity factor only slightly affects the solar PV energy injected into the system.



Figure 5-10. Energy from solar PV and conventional sources.

Observe in Figure 5-11 that the new investments are still concentrated in the first four years of the plan period. However, the new solar PV investment decisions are shown in terms of their likelihood of being selected; for example, the Bruce region (Zone 9) has the comparatively highest likelihood of investment. Hence, it can be concluded that, in order to account for the variability in the solar PV capacity factors, the investments have to be made in all the zones to achieve the maximum profits.



Figure 5-11. New solar PV capacity selection frequency.

# 5.2.3 Scenario 3: Variation in Discount Rate and Capacity Factors of Solar PV generation

The average cumulative NPV of the investment plan is plotted over 2000 iterations of Monte Carlo simulations in Figure 5-12, resulting in an expected NPV of \$1,142 million. The expected NPV converges in about 1000 Monte Carlo simulations.



Figure 5-12. Cumulative average NPV over 2000 iterations.

Figure 5-13 shows the resulting histogram of the NPV of the probabilistic investment plan, resulting in a lognormal distribution with  $\mu = 20.808$  p.u. and  $\sigma = 0.30657$  p.u. Analysis of the histogram reveals that there are no negative values of NPV, which theoretically represents 100% project profitability even if both the discount rate and capacity factors are varied.



Figure 5-13. Histogram and best-fit probability distribution function of NPV over 2000

iterations.

The expected energy injected from new solar PV capacity addition depicted in Figure 5-14 is somewhat higher than that obtained for the deterministic case. Similar to the previous case, the conventional energy sources continue to serve the largest share of the demand, while the contribution of solar energy increases during the investment period and attains a steady-state share after 2013. Hence, the variation in discount rate and capacity factor only slightly affects the solar PV energy injected into the system.



Figure 5-14. Energy from solar PV and conventional generation sources.

Observe in Figure 5-15 that the new investments are still concentrated in the first four years of the plan period. However, the new solar PV investment decisions are shown in terms of their likelihood of being selected; for example, the Bruce region (Zone 9) has the comparatively highest likelihood of investment.



Figure 5-15. New solar PV capacity selection frequency.

#### 5.3 Summary

This chapter presented the results obtained in the deterministic and probabilistic analyses of the proposed model for the Ontario case. The model was solved using the CPLEX solver in GAMS. In the deterministic case, the results showed that a total investment of 135 MW is made in Bruce for a maximum NPV of \$725 million. For the probabilistic case studies, 3 scenarios were analyzed. In the first scenario, considering the variation in discount rate, expected investments were still made in Bruce with maximum NPV comparable with the deterministic case. In the second scenario, considering the variation in solar PV capacity factors, the expected investments were spread across Ontario to maximize NPV, which increased to over \$1 billion with a standard deviation of \$142 million distributed normally. The third scenario considered variation in both the discount rate and the solar PV capacity factors. In this scenario, the expected decisions were spread across Ontario to yield a maximum expected NPV of \$1.14 billion. All probabilistic scenarios resulted in 100% project profitability, regardless of the parameter uncertainties.

# Chapter 6 Conclusions

#### 6.1 Thesis Summary

In this thesis, an optimal planning model for investment in large-scale solar PV generation from the perspective of an individual investor has been presented. The model was tested using the Ontario case, based on realistic estimates for solar radiation patterns, conventional generation and transmission capacities, demand growth, and revenues for a 30 year investment plan, taking into account a very detailed and realistic representation of solar PV unit costs. The following are the main contents and conclusions of the thesis:

- Chapter 2 reviewed the basics of solar PV power generation, system configurations and tools for their economic evaluation. A brief background of the mathematical modeling techniques used in this work (DC power flow, MILP and Monte Carlo simulations method) was also presented.
- Chapter 3 presented a novel MILP optimal investment planning model considering relevant electricity generation and transmission as well as financial constraints. This chapter also presented a solar PV power generation model based on solar radiation and ambient temperature inputs. The optimization framework, considering the balance between electricity supply and demand over the entire planning horizon, allows to determine the year, size and location of solar PV power plants on large-scale in the existing system for maximum investor profit.
- Chapter 4 presented the details of a reduced order equivalent electricity system along with a detailed representation of region-specific solar PV capacity factors and cost components. Generation, transmission expansion plans, and solar PV system cost trends from 2008-2038 were considered. All the model parameters described and developed in this chapter correspond to Ontario.
- Chapter 5 discussed the results obtained in the deterministic and probabilistic analyses of the proposed model for the Ontario case. The model was solved using

the CPLEX solver in GAMS. Results from the deterministic case study for Ontario suggested that investments are to be made in Bruce to yield maximum NPV. It was observed that these investment decisions were driven by the high solar energy availability in that zone. Parameter variability was also considered in the analysis through a Monte Carlo simulation approach. It was noted that variability in the discount rate only affects the NPV, as the investment decisions remained the same; however, variability in the capacity factors was overcome by spreading out the investments across Ontario. Another interesting observation was that regardless of the parameter uncertainties, all probabilistic scenarios resulted in 100% project profitability. The results show the usefulness and practicality of the model for determining optimal investment plans on solar PV and validate the related investment decisions currently being made in Ontario.

#### 6.2 Contributions of the Thesis

The work carried out is from the perspective of an individual investor to serve as a useful feasibility analysis tool. The main feature of the proposed model is that it incorporates inputs from the transmission system, the governing authority, and the investor, represented as various constraints in a unified optimization model to provide a feasible optimal solution.

The following are the main contributions of the research presented in this thesis:

- A novel optimization framework for investment in large-scale solar PV in existing transmission system has been developed and tested in a realistic case. The model, which requires location-specific inputs on the solar energy, cost components, conventional generation, demand and transmission capacities, determines the maximum NPV of investor profits. This is achieved through finding the optimal size, site and time of investment for large-scale solar PV power plants. The main characteristics of the proposed model are the following:
  - Investment decisions to maximize NPV of investor's profits are constrained by the existing generation plans, demand reduction targets and forecasts, transmission line capacities and expansion plans. As well

as ensuring nodal supply-demand balance by incorporating dc power flow equations.

- Location specific solar energy availability has been incorporated in the model through the development of zonal solar PV capacity factors. Cost models to determine the location specific cost components associated with solar PV installations have been developed. The future cost trends are based on the past trends which reflect the economic favorability of each zone for solar PV power plants.
- Government incentives and policy mechanisms to support solar PV development have been considered through FIT, which determines the revenue earned. From the investor's perspective, the internal budgetary limits and delays associated with approvals and policy changes have also been accounted for.
- The proposed model has been applied to study solar PV investments in Ontario based on deterministic and probabilistic studies, demonstrating the advantages of investing in solar PV plants in the province. This is consistent with the current investment patterns being observed in Ontario.

The proposed model and part of the corresponding results presented in this thesis have been submitted for publication in the IEEE Transactions on Power Systems [52].

#### 6.3 Future Work

Based on the work presented in thesis, further research may be pursued in the following directions:

- Sensitivity analyses to study the effect of variations of the input parameters, thus providing comprehensive information on how various model parameters impact the NPV and investment decisions.
- The effect of FIT and other support mechanisms on solar PV investments could be studied, using this model, from both private investor and central authority perspectives.

- Comparative studies on financing options, such as loan scheduling and debt retirement can also be incorporated in the model to make it more realistic.
- In this thesis, the smallest time step was considered to be 1 year, but the analysis could be extended to a monthly basis to yield more precise decisions.
- Renewable energy sources other than solar PV, such as wind, geothermal, CSP, etc., could be included in the study based on the potential zonal availability and corresponding cost models.

# Bibliography

- "Trends in Photovoltaic Applications, survey report of selected IEA countries between 1992-2009," International Energy Agency, Photovoltaic Power Systems Program, August 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ieapvps.org/index.php?id=92&eID=dam\_frontend\_push&docID=432
- J. Ayoub, L. Dignard-Bailey, and Y. Poissant, "National Survey Report of PV Power Applications in Canada 2009," International Energy Agency, Photovoltaic Power Systems Program, June 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ieapvps.org/countries/download/nsr09/NSR\_2009\_Canada\_Final\_June\_2010(draft1. 0).pdf
- [3] "Renewables 2010: Global Status Report," Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century, Sept. 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.ren21.net/globalstatusreport/REN21\_GSR\_2010\_full.pdf
- [4] "A Progress Report on Electricity Supply Third Quarter 2009," Ontario Power Authority (OPA), 2009.
- [5] "World's largest photovoltaic power plants," PVresources, 2009. [Online].
   Available: http://www.pvresources.com/en/top50pv.php
- [6] W.C. Sinke, "Grid parity: holy grail or hype?," *International Sustainable Energy Review*, Iss. 1, 2009.
- [7] Keiichi Komoto, et. al., "Energy from the Desert, Executive Summary," IEA PVPS Task 8, May 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.ssbfoundation.com/Energy%20from%20the%20Desert%20Summary.pdf
- [8] "An Act to enact the Green Energy Act, 2009 and to build a green economy, to repeal the Energy Conservation Leadership Act, 2006 and the Energy Efficiency Act and to amend other statutes", Bill 150, Chapter 12 Statutes of Ontario, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.ontla.on.ca/bills/billsfiles/39\_Parliament/Session1/b150ra.pdf
- [9] "Feed-in Tariff Program," Ontario Power Authority (OPA), ver. 1.3.1, Aug. 2010.
  [Online]. Available: http://fit.powerauthority.on.ca/Storage/102/11160\_FIT\_Program\_Overview\_Aug ust\_new\_price\_version\_1.3.1\_final\_for\_posting-oct\_27.pdf
- [10] M. Kolhe, S. Kolhe, and J.C. Joshi, "Economic viability of stand-alone solar photovoltaic system in comparison with diesel-powered system for India," *Energy Economics*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 155–65, March 2002.
- [11] A. Kornelakis, and E. Koutroulis, "Methodology for the design optimisation and the economic analysis of grid-connected photovoltaic systems," *IET Renewable Power Generation*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 476-492, February 2009.
- [12] J. V. Paatero, and P. D. Lund, "Effects of large-scale photovoltaic power integration on electricity distribution networks," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 216-234, February 2007.
- [13] K. Y. Khouzam, "Technical and economic assessment of utility interactive PV systems for domestic applications in South East Queensland," *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 14, no. 4, December 1999, pp. 1544-1550.
- [14] G. Nofuentes, J. Aguilera, and F.J. Muñoz, "Tools for the profitability analysis of grid-connected photovoltaics," *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications*, Wiley, December 2002, vol. 10, pp. 555–570.
- [15] J. C. Hernandez, A. Medina, F. Jurado, "Optimal allocation and sizing for profitability and voltage enhancement of PV systems on feeders," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 1768-1789, August 2007.
- [16] L. Dusonchet, and E. Telaretti, "Economic analysis of different supporting policies for the production of electrical energy by solar photovoltaics in western European Union countries," *Energy Policy*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 3297-3308, July 2010.

- [17] J. Zhang, B. Zeng, and J. Dong, "Research on the framework of planning model for the photovoltaic generation integration in China," in *Proc. 2010 5th International Conference on Critical Infrastructure (CRIS)*, September 2010, pp. 1-5.
- [18] S. M. Wong, K. Bhattacharya and J. D. Fuller, "Long-Term Effects of Feed-in Tariffs and Carbon Taxes on Distribution Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol.25, no.3, Aug 2010, pp.1241-1253.
- [19] S. M. Wong, K. Bhattacharya and J. D. Fuller, "Coordination of Investor-Owned DG Capacity Growth in Distribution Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol.25, no.3, Aug 2010, pp.1375-1383.
- [20] "Solar energy: A new day dawning?," Nature, no. 443, pp. 19-22, September 2006.
- [21] "Photovoltaic: What is Photovoltaic Energy?," Abengoa Solar. [Online]. Available: http://www.abengoasolar.com/corp/web/en/technologies/photovoltaic/what\_is\_it/i ndex.html
- [22] "Enbridge and First Solar Complete the Largest Photovoltaic Facility in the World," Marketwire, Oct. 4, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.enbridge.com/MediaCentre/News.aspx?yearTab=en2010&id=132913 1
- [23] "Concentrating Solar Power: What is CSP energy?," Abengoa Solar. [Online]. Available: http://www.abengoasolar.com/corp/web/en/technologies/concentrated\_solar\_powe r/what\_is\_it/index.html
- [24] "Solúcar Platform PS10: The first commercial tower of the world," Abengoa Solar. [Online]. Available: http://www.abengoasolar.com/corp/web/en/our\_projects/solucar/ps10/index.html

- [25] "Solar Energy Generating Systems," NextEra Energy Resources, retrieved in December 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.nexteraenergyresources.com/content/where/portfolio/pdf/segs.pdf
- [26] S. B. Kjaer, J. K. Pedersen, and F. Blaabjerg, "A review of single-phase gridconnected inverters for photovoltaic modules," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 41, no. 5, Sept-Oct 2005, pp. 1292- 1306.
- [27] "Photovoltaic Systems: A Buyer's Guide," Natural Resources Canada (NRCAN), 2002. [Online]. Available: http://canmetenergy-canmetenergie.nrcanrncan.gc.ca/fichier/80674/Photovoltaic%20Systems%20-%20Buyer's%20Guide.pdf
- [28] J.A. Duffie, and W.A. Beckman, Solar Engineering of Thermal Processes, 2nd ed. New York: Wiley, 1991.
- [29] B. Kroposki, and R. DeBlasio, "Technologies for the new millennium: Photovoltaics as a distributed resource," in *Proc. 2000 IEEE Power and Engineering Society Summer Meeting*, vol.3, Jul 2000, pp.1798-1801.
- [30] K. Bhattacharya, "Lecture Notes: ECE 760 (T06)," Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering, University of Waterloo, January 2009.
- [31] C. A. Floudas, Nonlinear and Mixed-Integer Programming Fundamentals and Applications, Oxford University Press, 1995.
- [32] E. L. Johnson, G. L. Nemhauser, and M. W. P. Savelsbergh, "Progress in linear programming-based algorithms for integer programming: An exposition," *INFORMS Journal on Computing*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 2–23, 2000.
- [33] "GAMS Users Manual," GAMS Development Corporation, Washington, DC, USA, 2008.
- [34] "Sunrise and Sunset hours," Time and Date AS. [Online]. Available: http://www.timeanddate.com/
- [35] "Ontario's Integrated Power System Plan," Ontario Power Authority (OPA), ver. 080904, August 2008. [Online]. Available:

http://www.powerauthority.on.ca/sites/default/files/page/7763\_B-1-1\_updated\_2008-09-04.pdf

- [36] A. Hajimiragha, "Sustainable Convergence of Electricity and Transport Sectors in the Context of Integrated Energy Systems," PhD thesis, Dept. Elec. and Comp. Eng., Univ. Waterloo, Waterloo, 2010.
- [37] "Ontario Generation Report," Sygration. [Online]. Available: http://www.sygration.com/gendispsample.html
- [38] "Monthly Generator Disclosure Report," Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO). [Online]. Available: http://www.ieso.ca/imoweb/marketdata/genDisclosure.asp
- [39] "Ontario Transmission System," Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO), August 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.ieso.ca/imoweb/pubs/marketReports/OntTxSystem\_2009aug.pdf
- [40] P. Kundur, Power System Stability and Control, McGraw Hill, 1994.
- [41] "Surface meteorology and Solar Energy (SSE) Dataset," NASA Earth Science Enterprise Program in collaboration with CANMET Technology Centre, release 6.0, March 2008. [Online]. Available: http://eosweb.larc.nasa.gov/sse/RETScreen/
- [42] "Standard Polycrystalline Module Product Sheet," Centennial Solar. [Online]. Available: http://www.centennialsolar.com/files/36cell1.pdf
- [43] "Solar Energy Technologies Plan: Multiyear technology plan 2008-2012," US Department of Energy, April 2008.
- [44] "Solar Module Retail Price Environment," Solarbuzz. [Online]. Available: http://www.solarbuzz.com/Moduleprices.htm
- [45] "Estimating Land Market Values," T. Gwartney. [Online]. Available: http://www.henrygeorge.org/ted.htm

- [46] "Fall 2010 Farmland Values Report," Farm Credit Canada, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.fccfac.ca/en/Products/Property/FLV/Fall2010/index.asp#on
- [47] "Estimates of the Full Cost of Transportation in Canada," Transport Canada, August 2008, pp. 23. [Online]. Available: http://www.tc.gc.ca/media/documents/policy/report-final.pdf
- [48] "PowerGate Plus 500 kW PV Inverter Data Sheet," Satcon Solar PV Inverters. [Online]. Available: http://www.satcon.com/downloads/solutions/500kW-PG-US.pdf
- [49] "Operating Cost of Trucks in Canada 2005," Transport Canada, 2005. [Online]. Available: http://www.tc.gc.ca/eng/policy/report-acg-operatingcost2005-2005-e-1737.htm
- [50] "Census data 2001 and 2006 Community Profiles," Statistics Canada. [Online]. Available: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/start-debut-eng.html
- [51] "PV cost factors," Public Renewables Partnership. [Online]. Available: http://www.repartners.org/solar/pvcost.htm
- [52] W. Muneer, K. Bhattacharya, and C. Canizares, "Large-Scale Solar PV Investment Models, Tools and Analysis: The Ontario Case," *IEEE Transactions* on Power Systems, submitted December 2010, revised and resubmitted March 2011, 9 pages.